1999

# John E. Worthen v. Robert W. Walter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, section 78-2a-3(2)(j). The orders appealed from are final orders disposing of all claims of all parties.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court commit err by dismissing Appellant's breach of contract claim on the grounds that the claim was barred by the statute of limitations?
  - A. Was it err to find the statute of limitations governing oral contracts barred Appellant's claim where no finding of fact was made as to when the statute of limitation began to run?
  - B. Did the trial court err by failing to recognize that Appellant's claim did not arise until March 23, 1995?
  - C. Did the trial court err by failing to recognize that Appellee's letter acknowledging the validity of Appellant's claim renewed the statute of limitations?
  - D. Did the trial court err by failing to recognize that the statute of limitations was tolled by the discovery rule?
  - E. Did the trial court err by failing to recognize that the appropriate limitations period was the six year statute of limitations period governing written contracts?

1. Did the trial court err by dismissing Appellant's breach of contract claim for failure to show causation and damages?
  - A. Did the trial court err by not recognizing the complaint and amended complaint both alleged facts that if proven would entitle Appellant to an award of damages?
  - B. Did the trial court err by not recognizing disputed issues of material facts existed as to causation and damages?
  - C. Did the trial court err by not recognizing that upon proving the allegations made in Appellant's amended complaint, Appellant would be entitled to lost profits damages?
  - D. Did the trial court err by not recognizing that upon proving the allegations made in the Appellant's amended complaint, Appellant would be entitled to restitution damages?
  - E. Did the trial court err by not recognizing that upon proving the allegations made in the Appellant's amended complaint, Appellant would be entitled to nominal damages?
3. Was Appellant denied adequate notice that the Appellee's motion to dismiss was going to be decided without oral argument by since the motion was decided without a notice to submit for decision being filed as to that motion and the Appellee's earlier request for oral argument had not been withdrawn or otherwise waived by either party?

## **STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

“When reviewing a motion to dismiss based on Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court must accept the material allegations of the complaint as true, and the trial court ruling should be affirmed only if it clearly appears the complainant can prove no set of facts in support of his or her claims.” Mackey v. Cannon, 996 P.2d 1081, 1084 (Utah App. 2000). “A dismissal is a severe measure and should be granted by the trial court only if it is clear that a party is not entitled to relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of its claim.” Id (quoting Colman v. Utah State Land Brd., 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990)). The appellate court “must consider all the reasonable inferences to be drawn from the facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiff.” Id (quoting Anderson v. Dean Witter Reynolds, 841 P.2d 742, 744 (Utah App. 1992)). “The propriety of a trial court’s decision to grant or deny a motion to dismiss under rule 12(b)(6) is a question of law that we review for correctness.” Id. “The courts are a forum for settling controversies, and if there is any doubt about whether a claim should be dismissed for the lack of a factual basis, the issue should be resolved in favor of giving the party an opportunity to present its proof.” Id (quoting Colman, 795 P.2d at 624).

## **DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY**

The determinative authority for this appeal are Utah Code Annotated, section 78-2a-3(2)(j), section 78-12-23, section 78-12-25, section 78-12-44, Utah Code of Judicial Administration Rule 4-501, and Rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **1. Nature of the Case**

This is an appeal from a final order of the Third District Court, Honorable Homer F.

Wilkinson presiding, granting Walter's and Berlinger, Zissler, Walter and Gallagos' Rule 9(b) and 12(b) Motion To Dismiss Plaintiff Worthen's First Amended Complaint With Prejudice. Appellant does not contest that portion of the trial court's order dismissing his claims against American Securities Transfer and Trust Inc., and Seaboard Surety Company.

## **2. Course of Proceedings**

On February 16, 1999, Appellant John E. Worthen, ("Worthen"), filed his complaint against Robert E. Walter, ("Walter"), his law firm Berlinger, Zissler, Walter & Gallegos, (the "Law Firm"), Seaboard Surety Company, ("Seaboard"), and American Securities Transfer and Trust Inc., ("AST"), alleging conversion of securities, breach of contract and fraud. On June 10, 1999, Walter filed his answer accompanied by a Rule 9(b) motion to strike Worthen's fraud claim. On June 14, 1999, AST filed its Motion to Dismiss or Alternatively, Motion for Summary Judgement. In support of its motion AST filed affidavits from two of its employees. On June 6, 1999, Worthen sought leave to amend his complaint, and on August 2, 1999, he filed his First Amended Complaint. On August 31, 1999, Walter responded by filing his Rule 9(b) and 12(b) Motion To Dismiss Plaintiff Worthen's First Amended Complaint. On the following day, September 1, 1999, Walter filed his supporting memorandum and request for oral argument on his motion to dismiss. On September 28, 1999, Worthen filed his motion in opposition to Walter's motion to dismiss. On October 4, 1999, Walter subsequently filed his reply memorandum in further support of the motion to dismiss. No notice to submit for decision was ever filed relating to Walter's Rule 9(b) and Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. No waiver of oral argument was filed after Walter requested oral argument on his motion to dismiss. On October 26, 1999, the trial court entered its 4-501 Ruling granting Walter's motion to dismiss, and on

November 12, 1999, the trial court signed and entered its written Order Granting Walter's & Berlinger, Zissler, Walter & Gallegos' Rule 9(b) & 12(b)(6) Motion To Dismiss Plaintiff Worthen's First Amended Complaint With Prejudice and Denying Motion To Disqualify. Worthen filed his Notice of Appeal on December 9, 1999.

### **3. Disposition In The Trial Court**

Upon written motions of the parties and without oral argument, the trial court, Honorable Judge Homer F. Wilkinson, by its 4-501 Ruling granted Seaboard and AST's motion for summary judgment dismissing all claims against those two parties. No appeal is being brought from this portion of the trial court's ruling. The trial court's 4-501 Ruling also granted Walter's Rule 9(b) and Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss with prejudice, from which this appeal is being brought.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Worthen purchased 17,600,000 common voting shares of Fintech Inc. ("Fintech"), stock from a group of controlling shareholders on March 12, 1986 pursuant to a written purchase agreement. (Record at 2, 4, 87 ¶ 3, 161 ¶ 1, 225 ¶ 5)
2. Robert Walter was among the controlling shareholders and personally sold Worthen 3,100,000 common shares under the same purchase agreement. (Record at 4-6, 9-11, 14-18, 71, 87 ¶ 3, 161 ¶ 2, 160 ¶ 29, 179, 193, 195, 200, 204, 334)
3. Stock Certificate 115 ("Certificate 115") was signed by Robert Walter and delivered to Worthen evidencing the 3,100,000 shares he purchased. (Record at 166 ¶ 29, 204)
4. At the time of the stock sale, Robert Walter, working at the law firm of Berlinger, Zissler, Walter and Gallegos, was legal counsel for Fintech and prepared the documents necessary to

facilitate the sale to Worthen. (Record at 4-5, 11, 161 ¶ 4)

5. On March 12, 1986, Form 8-K was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as required by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 notifying the SEC of the change in control of the registrant. (Record 4-5, 14-16, 161 ¶ 4)

6. The Form 8-K identified Walter as one of the individuals from whom Worthen purchased the Fintech stock with notice that Worthen paid \$50,000 cash for the 17,600,000 shares purchased under the agreement. (Record at 14-16)

7. Following Worthen's purchase of the stock, a number of name changes and reverse stock splits were completed by the company which resulted by the fall of 1992 in the total number of shares represented by Certificate 115, post name changes and splits, being 7,750 of Summa Metals Corporation. (Record at 71, 161 ¶¶ 5-9, 184, 193)

8. During the summer or fall of 1996 the price of the stock peaked at \$15.00 per share and the value of the stock represented by Certificate 115 equaled \$116,250.00 in value. (Record at 195)

9. In September of 1992, Robert Walter contacted the transfer agent of the stock AST and reported Certificate 115 as "lost or stolen" and requested that a new certificate be issued in his name. (Record at 162-65 ¶¶ 12-22)

10. On September 9, 1992, AST issued a replacement certificate to Robert Walter in his name ("Certificate 1038") evidencing ownership of 7,750 shares of Summa Metals Corporation stock. (Record at 165 ¶ 22)

11. In the late fall of 1994, Worthen's stock broker contacted AST and inquired into the status of Certificate 115 and was advised by AST that it had been reported lost and that a

replacement certificate had been issued. (Record at 295 ¶ 3)

12. On or about March 23, 1995, Worthen contacted Stephen C. Vickstrom of St. Paul Surety and filed an adverse claim on Certificate 1038, claiming ownership of the stock and Mr. Vickstrom contacted AST requesting that a stop payment notice be placed on Certificate 1038. (Record at 191)

13. On September 4, 1996, Robert Walter issued a letter to Worthen's attorney repudiating the contract and claiming he had "no recollection of the purported sale to Mr. Worthen." Robert Walter further stated that if the sale had occurred "that Mr. Worthen has, at a minimum, a signature guaranteed stock power from me and a stock purchase agreement." (Record at 165 ¶ 24, 193)

14. On September 24, 1996, Robert Walter sent a second letter threatening legal action against Worthen if he did not produce substantive evidence of his ownership of the Fintech stock as it had declined in value and Robert Walter was suffering "economic loss." (Record at 164-65 ¶¶ 25-27)

15. On March 18, 1997, Seaboard Surety Company delivered to Robert Walter the signature guaranteed stock power bearing his signature as evidence that he did in fact sell the stock to Worthen. (Record at 166 ¶ 28-29, 204)

16. Robert Walter acknowledged the signature as his own and on April 3, 1997, he released all claims to the stock. (Record at 166 ¶ 29, 204, 206)

17. On April 9, 1997, Seaboard faxed a letter to AST notifying the company that Robert Walter had released all claims to the stock. (Record at 166 ¶¶ 30-31, 206)

18. AST then sent a letter to Robert Walter, dated April 11, 1997 requesting that he

immediately return Certificate 1038 so that it could be canceled and the original Certificate 115 could be reinstated and the stock could be returned to Worthen. (Record at 166 ¶ 32, 208)

19. Robert Walter failed to return Certificate 1038 for cancellation and AST was forced to make additional request on June 9, 1997, July 22, 1997, August 21, 1997, September 9, 1997, and again on November 11, 1997. (Record at 167 ¶¶ 33-36)

20. Finally on December 12, 1997, Robert Walter's law firm returned Certificate 1038 for cancellation. (Record at 167-68 ¶ 39)

21. Mr. Worthen was notified on December 16, 1997 that Walter had released his claim to the stock. (Record at 315)

22. From September 3, 1996 until December 12, 1997 the stock continued to lose value and was almost worthless by the time Walter returned Certificate 1038 for cancellation. (Record at 5)

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in granting Walter's motion to dismiss. When considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss the court must accept the factual allegations of the complaint as true and may only grant the motion if it clearly appears the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim. Because the factual allegations must be accepted as true the burden remains on the moving party to prove by uncontroverted evidence that the plaintiff is not entitled to the requested relief.

In both his original and amended complaints Worthen alleged facts sufficient to support his breach of contract claim. Worthen alleged the existence of a written contract between himself and Walter and that Walter breached the contract by failing to relinquish ownership of

the stock. He further alleged that Walter's failure to surrender the stock caused him economic loss by preventing him from selling the stock. And finally, he alleged that he was entitled to damages as he had already sold his other shares of Fintech stock and attempted to sell the disputed shares but could not due to Walter's breach.

With respect to the statute of limitations, Worthen alleged that he did not learn of the breach until at least March 23, 1995, and that prior to that time he did not know of the breach and had no reason to know of the breach. In addition, Worthen alleged that he exercised the voting privileges and other privileges inherent to the stock which also gave him no reason to suspect that Walter had claimed ownership. These allegations were also supported by letters and other documents filed with his complaints. In addition, Walter acknowledged the validity of Worthen's claim in a letter signed and dated April 7, 1997, which renewed the statute of limitations. Thus, Worthen had until April 7, 2001 to file on the basis of an oral contract and until April 7, 2003 to file on the basis of a written contract. Also, the discovery rule tolling the statute of limitations is applicable in these circumstances. Worthen's allegations are sufficient to make a prima facie showing that he was not in a position to reasonably discover the breach of contract until March 23, 1995, and thus, in accordance with the discovery rule, had until March 23, 1999 to file on the basis of an oral contract and until March 23, 2001 to file on the basis of a written contract.

In supporting his motion to dismiss Walter simply denied Worthen's factual allegations. Walter merely argued that a written contract did not exist because Worthen had failed to produce one. With respect to both causation and damages Walter argued that Worthen failed to allege these elements because he failed to offer proof that he had sold his other Fintech stock. Because

Worthen's factual allegations must be accepted as true he was under no obligation to provide conclusive proof of his allegations. To the contrary, the burden remained on Walter to disprove by uncontroverted facts that Worthen was not entitled to his requested relief. Walter's mere denials fall far short of that task.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING WORTHEN'S BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATION**

Reviewing a motion to dismiss the appellate court accepts the allegations contained in the complaint as true and draws all reasonable inference in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. Mackey v. Cannon, 996 P.2d 1081, 1082 (Utah Ct. App. 2000). "[T]he trial court's ruling should only be affirmed if it clearly appears the complainant can prove no set of facts to support his or her claim." Id. at 1084. Moreover, Utah courts recognize that dismissal "is a severe measure and should only be granted by the trial court if it is clear that a party is not entitled to relief." Id. Whether to uphold a trial court's ruling to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) is a question of law and the Appellate Court reviews for correctness giving no particular deference to the trial court's ruling. Id.

#### **A. The trial court erred in failing to make a specific finding of fact with respect to when the statute of limitations period began to run on Worthen's breach of contract claim.**

In granting Walter's motion to dismiss the trial court failed to make a specific finding of fact as to when the statute of limitation period began to run on Worthen's claim. Instead, the trial court reached only the general conclusion that Worthen's claim was barred by the four year

statute of limitations period governing oral contracts as codified in Utah Code Annotated, section 78-12-25. (Record at 421 ¶ 3) Because the trial court must receive the factual allegations in the complaint as the only credible evidence before it, the trial court was required to point to a set of facts alleged by Worthen that supported its determination that the statute of limitations barred his claim. See, Arrow Industries, Inc., v. Zions National Bank, 767 P.2d 935, 936 (Utah 1988). The trial court failed to do so.

**B. Worthen's breach of contract claim was timely filed as his cause of action on the breach did not arise until March 23, 1995.**

Even if the Court concludes the contract between the parties was oral rather than written, Worthen's claim was not barred by the statute of limitations until March 23, 1999.<sup>1</sup> Worthen filed his complaint on February 16, 1999. As a general rule the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the last event necessary to complete the cause of action occurs. Sevy v. Security Title Company Of Southern Utah, 902 P.2d 629, 634 (Utah 1995). Accepting the allegations in Worthen's complaint as true, he did not suffer damages until March 23, 1995 when Walter's breach prevented him from claiming ownership of the stock. (Record at 191)

A cause of action for breach of contract does not arise until a plaintiff can show a contract, a breach, causation and damages from that breach. Mackey, 996 P.2d at 1085. Worthen's purchase of the stock from Walter was sufficient to form a contract. (Record at 4-6, 9-11, 14-18, 71) By claiming the certificate 115 as lost or stolen on September 4, 1992, Walter breached that contract. (Record at 162-65 ¶¶ 12-22) Walter's breach, however, did not cause damages to Worthen until approximately March 23, 1995, when Worthen filed his adverse claim

---

<sup>1</sup>UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-25 (1996).

with Seaboard following his unsuccessful attempt to have the stock registered in his name. (Record at 3 ¶¶ 1-2, 5 ¶ 1, 165 ¶ 23, 191, 323 ¶ 4) Prior to March 23, 1995, none of Worthen's attempts to sell the stock were interfered with by Walter's breach. (Record at 3 ¶ 1, 220 ¶¶ 8-10, 331 ¶12) Therefore, Worthen suffered no economic loss from Walter's breach until March 23, 1995 when he gave the stock to his broker to sell and the broker learned of the certificate's cancellation. Since purchasing the stock in 1986, Worthen continued to exercise the other privileges of owning the stock, but in 1995, his right to sell the stock was interfered with by Walter's breach. Until March 23, 1995, Worthen could not claim an erosion of his rights as stockholder and therefore no claim arose which would have started the statute of limitations to run. This point is further illuminated by recognizing that had Walter reversed his action and released all claims to the stock before March 1995, he would have caused Worthen absolutely no harm. Instead, Worthen would have submitted certificate 115 through his stock broker, the stock would have been issued in his name and Worthen could have sold the stock on the market as he desired to. Consequently, having suffered no damages until March 23, 1995, Worthen's breach of contract claim did not arise until then and therefore his claim was not barred until March 23, 1999.

Arguing for dismissal on this point, Walter asserted only that he breached the contract on September 4, 1992 and that Worthen's claim was therefore barred either on September 4, 1996 as an oral contract or on September 4, 1998 as a written contract. (Record at 232-33) Walter made no effort to show that all the elements necessary to form a breach of contract claim had been met in 1992 or on any other date. (Record at 228-238) Such skeletal contradictory claims at a minimum demonstrated that issues of material facts still existed between the parties that

prohibited the trial court from dismissing Worthen's claim. Moreover, because the trial court was required to accept the allegations of Worthen's claim as true, the mere fact that Walter alleged facts different from Worthen's is insufficient to support its ruling to dismiss the breach of contract claim as barred by the statute of limitations.

**C. Worthen's breach of contract claim was timely filed as Walter's letter acknowledging Worthen's ownership of the Fintech stock renewed the statute of limitations.**

In dismissing Worthen's breach of contract claim as untimely the trial court's ruling should only be upheld if it is clear that his claim was barred by the statute of limitations. Mackey, 996 P.2d at 1084. Attached and incorporated in his original and amended complaints was a letter from Walter, dated April 7, 1997, that effectively renewed the statute of limitations period by acknowledgment. Utah Code Annotated, section 78-12-44 states:

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