1999

## Worthen v. Walter : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

This Court should uphold the decision of the trial court by finding that it was correct in ruling that the four-year statute of limitations governing oral contracts barred Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter. Contrary to Mr. Worthen's suggestion, the last event necessary to complete his breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter was Mr. Walter's alleged breach, which occurred on September 9, 1992, when AST issued Mr. Walter the Replacement Certificate. Despite numerous attempts to circumvent the statute of limitations, including raising new issues on appeal, each of Mr. Worthen's arguments lacks merit.

Additionally, this Court should uphold the decision of the trial court by finding that it was correct in dismissing Mr. Worthen's First Amended Complaint with prejudice because he failed to make a sufficient showing that Mr. Walter caused any loss to him, an essential element of his breach of contract claim, with respect to which he had the burden of proof.

Finally, after considering the facts and circumstances surrounding this appeal, this Court should not only affirm the trial court's decision dismissing Mr. Worthen's First Amended Complaint with prejudice, but should also grant Mr. Walter and the Firm damages against Mr. Worthen pursuant to Rule 33 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT MR. WORTHEN'S BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST MR. WALTER WAS BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE FOUR-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS GOVERNING ORAL CONTRACT CLAIMS**

The arguments advanced by Mr. Worthen in his opening appellate brief, regarding the trial court's decision that his contract claims against Mr. Walter and the Firm were barred by the relevant statute of limitations, raised new issues that were not addressed by the trial court and were raised for the first time on appeal. Specifically, Mr. Worthen raised the following issues for the first time on appeal: (1) his breach of contract claim did not arise until March 23, 1995; (2) Mr. Walter's letter

regarding Mr. Worthen's ownership of the Fintech stock tolled the statute of limitations; (3) the discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations; and (4) Mr. Worthen purchased the Fintech stock from Mr. Walter pursuant to a written purchase agreement and, therefore the six-year statute of limitations governing written contracts applies instead of the four-year limitations period governing oral contracts. In addition to raising these issues for the first time on appeal, Mr. Worthen's arguments lack merit.

**A. The Last Event Necessary to Complete Mr. Worthen's Breach of Contract Claim Against Mr. Walter and the Firm Occurred on September 9, 1992, When AST Issued Mr. Walter the Replacement Certificate**

The trial court correctly ruled that the four-year statute of limitations governing oral contracts barred Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter and the Firm. Under Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25(1)(1996), an action based upon an oral contract may be brought within four years.

As a general rule, a cause of action accrues and the relevant limitations period begins to run "upon the happening of the last event necessary to complete the cause of action . . . [and] mere ignorance of the existence of a cause of action does not prevent the running of the statute of limitations." *Myers v. McDonald*, 635 P.2d 84, 86 (Utah 1981).

As applied to the subject dispute, the applicable four-year statute of limitations governing oral contracts began to run when the last event necessary to complete the

cause of action occurred. Although a breach of contract claim requires the plaintiff to allege the existence of a contract, a breach, causation, and damages as a result of the breach, the last **event** necessary to complete this cause of action is a breach.

Contrary to Mr. Worthen's suggestion, the last event necessary to complete his breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter is Mr. Walter's alleged breach, which occurred on September 9, 1992, when AST issued Mr. Walter the Replacement Certificate. At that time, Mr. Worthen would have been able to allege the requisite elements of a breach of contract claim. Mr. Worthen could have alleged that a contract existed, that Mr. Walter breached the contract by having the Replacement Certificate issued, that Mr. Walter's breach caused him damages, and that he suffered damages in an amount equal to the amount he paid Mr. Walter for the 3,100,000 shares of Fintech stock.

Simply stated, based upon the allegations in the Amended Complaint, Mr. Worthen entered into a contract with Mr. Walter for the purchase of 3,100,000 shares of Fintech stock. Mr. Walter agreed to sell Mr. Worthen the Fintech shares he owned, and in exchange, Mr. Worthen agreed to purchase the Fintech stock from Mr. Walter. Subsequently, on September 9, 1992, when AST issued Mr. Walter the Replacement Certificate, Mr. Walter breached the contract. Mr. Walter's breach immediately allegedly resulted in damages to Mr. Worthen given that Mr. Worthen satisfied his obligation to pay Mr. Walter for the stock and essentially received nothing of value in return.



Mr. Worthen waited until February 16, 1999, more than six years after Mr. Walter's breach, to file the Complaint. Considering that the last event necessary to complete Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim occurred on September 9, 1992, Mr. Worthen had until September 9, 1996, to file the Complaint. As a result of failing to file the Complaint within the statutory period, Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter was barred by the relevant statute of limitations. In short, the trial court correctly ruled that Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter was barred by the four-year statute of limitations governing oral contracts because Mr. Worthen waited more than six years before he filed the Complaint.

**B. Mr. Worthen's Argument That His Breach of Contract Action Against Mr. Walter Did Not Arise until March 23, 1995 Is Contrary to the Facts and Undermines the Guiding Policy Considerations for Enacting Limitation Periods**

Mr. Worthen acknowledged that Mr. Walter breached the contract on September 9, 1992, when AST issued Mr. Walter the Replacement Certificate. However, Mr. Worthen contends that he was not damaged until March 23, 1995, when Stephen C. Vickstrom instructed AST to place a stop payment notation on the Replacement Certificate because there was a dispute over its ownership. Mr. Worthen suggests that he was not damaged by Mr. Walter's breach prior to this time, because the breach did not interfere with his attempts to sell the stock. Not only is this suggestion counterintuitive and contrary to the facts, it circumvents the underlying policy considerations for enacting limitation periods.

"Statutes of limitations 'are designed to promote justice by preventing surprises through the revival of claims that have been allowed to slumber until evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared.'" *Sevy v. Security Title Co. of S. Utah*, 902 P.2d 629, 634 (Utah 1995)(citing *Myers v. McDonald*, 635 P.2d 84, 86 (Utah 1981)(quoting *Order of R.R. Telegraphers v. Railway Express Agency, Inc.*, 321 U.S. 342, 348-49 (1944))).

By arguing that the four-year statute of limitations did not begin to run until March 23, 1995, Mr. Worthen is essentially trying to improperly select when the last event necessary to complete his breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter occurred. To allow Mr. Worthen to do this would permit him to circumvent the statute of limitations by allowing him, in his sole discretion, to dictate exactly when he suffered damages. If this Court were to agree with Mr. Worthen's argument that he did not suffer any damages from Mr. Walter's breach until March 23, 1995, then this Court would create an enormous loophole in the statute of limitations jurisprudence that would enable plaintiffs to effectively circumvent limitation periods. Additionally, allowing Mr. Worthen to improperly select when the last event necessary to complete his breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter occurred undermines the policy considerations that dictate the necessity for enacting statutes of limitations. More than 14 years have lapsed since Mr. Worthen purchased the Fintech stock from Mr. Walter, and it is likely that evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared.

In summary, given the policy considerations, combined with the fact that Mr. Walter's breach occurred on September 9, 1992, not March 23, 1995, Mr. Worthen's argument that his Complaint was timely filed because his breach of contract action did not arise until March 23, 1995 lacks merit.

**C. Mr. Walter's Acknowledgment of Mr. Worthen's Ownership of the Shares Is Not the Type of Acknowledgment Contemplated by Section 78-12-44 of the Utah Code Relating to Acknowledgment of a Debt, Liability or Claim**

Section 78-12-44 of the Utah Code has no application to Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter and, therefore, provides no basis for tolling the relevant statute of limitations. Section 78-12-44 provides:

In any case founded on contract, when any part of the principal or interest shall have been paid, or an acknowledgment of an existing liability, debt or claim, or any promise to pay the same, shall have been made, an action may be brought within the period prescribed for the same after such payment, acknowledgment or promise; but such acknowledgment or promise must be in writing, signed by the party to be charged thereby. When a right of action is barred by the provisions of any statute, it shall be unavailable either as a cause of action or ground of defense.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-44 (1953).

This statute clearly has no application to Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter. Mr. Walter's letter, dated April 3, 1997, provides, in pertinent part: "[h]aving reviewed the signature guaranty on the reverse of the stock certificate which was forwarded by Mr. Billeter, it does appear that the signature on

such signature guaranty is in fact my own. On the basis of the apparent accuracy of that document, I hereby release any claim to the foregoing certificates.” (R. 204). Mr. Worthen argues that this letter constitutes an acknowledgment. By advancing this argument, Mr. Worthen is torturing the concept of an acknowledgment necessary to extend the statute of limitations. The acknowledgment contemplated by the statute is “an acknowledgment of an existing liability, debt or claim, or any promise to pay the same,” not a release of an ownership interest. Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-44 (1953).

In conclusion, considering that § 78-12-44 of the Utah Code has no relevant application to Mr. Worthen’s breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter, Mr. Walter’s letter releasing his ownership interest in the Certificate fails to provide a basis for extending the applicable statute of limitations.

**D. The Discovery Rule Does Not Provide a Basis for Tolling the Applicable Statute of Limitations for a Sufficient Period of Time to Circumvent the Preclusion of Mr. Worthen’s Claim Against Mr. Walter Because Mr. Worthen Knew, or Should Have Known, of the Alleged Breach in the Fall of 1994, When Mr. Worthen’s Stock Broker Contacted American Securities Transfer (“Ast”) and Was Advised That Certificate 115 Had Been Reported Lost, That a Stop Order Had Been Placed on the Certificate, and That a Replacement Certificate Had Been Issued on September 9, 1992**

The statute of limitations governing Mr. Worthen’s claim does not provide a basis for tolling the applicable limitation period for a sufficient period of time to circumvent the preclusion of his breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter. The

discovery rule is considered an exception to the general rule regarding statutes of limitations, and delays the running of the limitation period "until the discovery of facts forming the basis for the cause of action." *Warren v. Provo City Corp.*, 838 P.2d 1125, 1129 (Utah 1992)(quoting *Myers v. McDonald*, 635 P.2d at 86).

In addressing this issue, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that:

an action is time-barred if the plaintiff discovered or should have discovered the alleged wrongdoing within the limitation period and that the question of when it was or should have been discovered is a question of fact. *Mosesian v. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co.*, 727 F.2d 873, 877 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.), *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 932 (1984). The *Mosesian* court further added that the question may be decided as a matter of law only when "uncontroverted evidence irrefutably demonstrates plaintiff discovered or should have discovered the fraudulent conduct." *Id.* (quoting *Kramas v. Security Gas & Oil Inc.*, 672 F.2d 766, 770 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 1035 (1982)).

*United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Company*, 870 P.2d 880, 886 (Utah 1993).

The Utah Supreme Court "has recognized three circumstances where the discovery rule applies: (1) in situations where the discovery rule is mandated by statute; (2) in situations where a plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant's concealment or misleading conduct; and (3) in situations where the case presents exceptional circumstances and the application of the general rule would be irrational or unjust, regardless of any showing that the defendant has prevented the discovery of the cause of action." *Id.*

Because this is an issue raised for the first time on appeal, Mr. Worthen failed to present to the trial court any argument regarding the application of the discovery rule to his case. Mr. Worthen suggested that trial court overlooked facts which he alleged were sufficient to invoke the discovery rule. In making this argument, Mr. Worthen failed to recognize that it was not the obligation of the trial court to invoke the discovery rule. Rather, it was his responsibility to raise the discovery rule as an exception to the general rule regarding statutes of limitations. *See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317 (1986).

Additionally, none of the circumstances articulated by the Utah Supreme Court apply to allow Mr. Worthen to invoke the discovery rule. First, as applied to the facts before this Court, this discovery rule is not mandated by statute. Second, Mr. Worthen has never asserted that he was not aware of his cause of action because of the Mr. Walter's concealment or misleading conduct. Finally, this case neither presents exceptional circumstances, nor would the application of the general rule be irrational or unjust.

Furthermore, even if Mr. Worthen was allowed to invoke the discovery rule, the uncontroverted evidence irrefutably demonstrates that Mr. Worthen discovered or should have discovered Mr. Walter's breach in the Fall of 1994, when Mr. Worthen's stock broker contacted American Securities Transfer ("AST") and was advised that Certificate 115 had been reported lost, that a stop order had been placed on the Certificate, and that the Replacement Certificate had been issued on

September 9, 1992. See *United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Company*, 870 P.2d 880 (Utah 1993).

Considering that Mr. Worthen discovered the facts forming the basis for his breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter in the Fall of 1994, he had until the Fall of 1998 to file the Complaint. Mr. Worthen filed the Complaint on February 16, 1999, which was after the limitation period expired. Consequently, even if the discovery rule were applied to toll Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter until he discovered the facts forming the basis of his claim, he still failed to file the Complaint within the applicable time period.

In summary, because the discovery rule presents an issue for the first time on appeal, the trial court was never given the opportunity to address its application to Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter. Additionally, none of the circumstances articulated by the Utah Supreme Court apply to allow Mr. Worthen to invoke the discovery rule. Furthermore, even if the discovery rule were applied to toll Mr. Worthen's breach of contract claim against Mr. Walter until he discovered the facts forming the basis of his claim, he still failed to file the Complaint within the applicable time period.

**E. Mr. Worthen's Argument That He Purchased the Fintech Shares Through a Written Purchase Agreement Is Not Supported by the Record, and Even If the Purchase Was Pursuant to a Written Agreement, the Six-year Statute of Limitations Governing Written Contracts Would Bar Mr. Worthen's Breach of Contract Claims Against Mr. Walter**

Mr. Worthen's argument that he purchased the Fintech stock from Mr. Walter pursuant to a written purchase agreement is not supported by the record and Mr. Worthen neither alleged nor provided incorporated documentation evidencing a written purchase agreement in either the Complaint or the First Amended Complaint. The pages Mr. Worthen cited to in the record do not support his contention that this stock purchase was pursuant to a written purchase agreement.

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